ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 


The circuit court erred by admitting evidence seized from Petitioner in 

violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, 

§ 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. The search warrant did not authorize a search 

of Petitioner, and exceptions for officer safety and inevitable discovery did not apply. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A Wood County jury convicted Petitioner ofpossession with intent to distribute 

cocaine and acquitted him of one count each of possessing with intent 

methamphetamine and oxycodone. A.R. 982-84. Police discovered these drugs during 

a raid of someone else's home and at which several people were present. A.R. 975, 

481. The State argued that evidence found on Petitioner's person showed he was a 

drug dealer: a large sum of cash, a paystub, and an Ohio ID card. A.R. 684-85, 702, 

707-08, 761-62. Petitioner appeals because the police had no lawful basis to search 

him, and the court should have suppressed the evidence used to tie him to the drugs. 

A. 	The police raided a home where Petitioner was present. The police 
detained, searched, and then arrested him. 

In 2015, a SWAT team executed a search warrant on 925 Lynn Street in 

Parkersburg. A.R. 319, 652. The warrant named Eric Salyers, one of the homeowners, 

as the target. A.R. 461, 975. The application did not mention Petitioner. A.R. 975. 

According to Sergeant Pifer, an officer involved in the raid, Petitioner was not on the 

police's "radar as being involved in this residence." A.R. 86. 

During the raid, the SWAT team removed Petitioner and several other people 

from a bedroom in the home to search it. A.R. 481, 669-70. The police handcuffed 

Petitioner when they removed him from the room. A.R. 672. Sergeant Pifer searched 

him and seized cash, a pay stub, and an Ohio ID card. A.R. 683-86; 695. 

After Pifer's search of Petitioner, police searching the bedroom found drugs. Id. 

Pifer then arrested Petitioner. A.R. 325-26. 
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B. At trial, the State introduced the drugs, the testimony of co
conspiring drug dealers, and the items seized from Petitioner. 

The State introduced the drugs seized from the bedroom at trial. A.R. 713-14. 

It also introduced the testimony of Kalem Casto, the overnight guest whose bedroom 

contained the drugs, A.R. 481, and Eric Salyers, the homeowner whom the warrant 

targeted. A.R. 545. Casto, who had lived in the bedroom for several months, A.R. 505, 

514, testified that before the raid, two individuals (who turned out to be confidential 

informants) approached him to buy cocaine and heroin. A.R. 485-86. Casto had 

heroin, but no cocaine. A.R. 485. He contacted Petitioner and asked him to bring 

cocaine to the home. A.R. 486. The CIs left to get money for the transaction. A.R. 487. 

Petitioner arrived at the home, and Salyers testified he saw Petitioner with cocaine 

and methamphetamine, and that Petitioner said he had oxycodone. A.R. 556. Shortly 

afterwards, the police conducted the raid. A.R. 487. 

The State also introduced the items seized from Petitioner's person: $865.00 

from Petitioner's wallet, a paystub, and an Ohio ID card. A.R. 685-86. The State 

argued that these items tied Petitioner to the drugs seized, as opposed Salyers, the 

homeowner named in the warrant, A.R. 975, Casto, whose bedroom contained the 

concealed drugs, A.R. 481, or any of the other people present. A.R. 761-62. It argued 

that the paystub indicated a small income, making it unlikely the large sum of cash 

had a legitimate origin. A.R. 761-62. The State also insinuated nefarious significance 

to the possession of an Ohio ID card. A.R. 762 ("And mind you, it's an identification 

card; it's not a driver's license. In little ole Parkersburg, West Virginia"). 

The jury convicted Petitioner of count one, possession with intent to distribute 

cocaine, but acquitted him of the other two charges. A.R. 982-84. The court sentenced 

him to an indeterminant one to fifteen-year prison sentence. A.R. 970. He is on parole 

from West Virginia DOC custody, but incarcerated by the Federal Bureau of Prisons. 1 

1 See West Virginia Division of Corrections Database Search for Cortez Barefield, 
https://apps.wv.gov/ois/offendersearchJdoc/, (search Offender ID (OlD) Number 
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C. 	The circuit court admitted the items seized from Petitioner after 
denying a pretrial motion to suppress the evidence. 

Prior to trial, the defense moved to suppress the items seized from Petitioner, 

arguing that under Ybarra v. Illinois, 444 U.S. 85 (1979), the search warrant for the 

home did not confer authority for the police to search Petitioner's person. A.R. 903. 

During the suppression hearing, Sergeant Pifer testified that he believed the 

warrant authorized him to search Petitioner. A.R. 311-12, 325. When Pifer removed 

Petitioner from the home, another officer had already handcuffed him. A.R. 322. Pifer 

assumed that this officer had conducted a Terry frisk before handcuffing him. A.R. 

324-25. Pifer therefore believed Petitioner had no weapons. A.R. 324. 

Nonetheless, when asked if he searched Petitioner for officer safety, Pifer 

answered "yes." A.R. 325. He also testified he did not limit his search to a pat-down 

for weapons. A.R. 325. He testified to a full search of Petitioner - his pockets, 

waistband, shoes, socks - "anywhere contraband or other item[s] could be placed." Id. 

Sergeant Pifer also testified that at the time of this search, he did not have 

probable cause to believe Petitioner had broken any laws. A.R. 325-26. He did not 

learn about the drugs seized from the bedroom until after completing his search of 

Petitioner. A.R. 326. Pifer testified that if he had developed probable cause first, he 

would have searched Petitioner incident to an arrest. A.R. 326-29. 

The circuit court denied the suppression motion, ruling from the bench that: 

Okay. The search of the Defendant's person while present at 925 
Lynn Street at the outset of the search of that residence was not 
unreasonable because the police had reliable information that the 
residence was being used at the time as a place from which controlled 
substances were being bought and sold. And the police had additional 
information that the Defendant, Cortez Barefield, had involvement in 
drug trafficking prior to the search.2 And the presence at the home, my 

"3530538," complete website validation entries, click "Search"); Federal Bureau of 
Prisons Database Search for Cortez Barefield, https://www.bop.govlinmateloc/, (click 
"Find by Number," Number "07960-088" click "Search"). 

2 The court is referring to proffered evidence that Petitioner was implicated in an 
unrelated drug transaction. See A.R. 333. The State acquiesced to Petitioner's motion 
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understanding about six individuals were taken out and represented as 
a safety risk to the officers at the risk that contraband may be destroyed 
or hidden during the search. 

And the police officer's seizure of the $865 of U.S. currency found 
on the Defendant, Cortez Barefield, and its placement, along with the 
other items as described as a reasonable way to deal with the property, 
even before unlawful drugs were found in the home. I guess the 
alternative was to replace the money back in the Defendant's pocket or 
wallet and place it back in his pocket and then seize it again after 
unlawful drugs were found in the home. And had no unlawful drugs been 
found then I think the officers would have been required to return all 
the items back to the Defendant. 

So either way, I don't think in this circumstance how the items 
were seized under the circumstances was unreasonable. So, therefore, 
the motion is denied. 

A.R. 356. Petitioner now appeals, because the circuit court mistook the law governing 

all three of its rationales for denying suppression: 1) the search warrant, 2) the need 

for officer safety, and 3) inevitable discovery. The search violated the Fourth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, § 6 of the West Virginia 

Constitution, and the court should have suppressed the illegally-obtained evidence. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court mistook the law governing all three rationales it used to deny 

Petitioner's motion to suppress. It therefore committed reversible error. 

First, regardless of officer knowledge, warrantless searches are presumptively 

unreasonable. See Johnson v. United States, 333 U.S. 10, 13-14 (1948). A warrant to 

search premises does not authorize police to search anyone who happens to be 

present, and their presence does not create probable cause to believe they are engaged 

in illegal activity or possess items sought by the warrant. See, e.g., Sy!. Pt. 1, State v. 

Massie, 95 W. Va. 233, 120 S.E. 514 (1923); Ybarra v. Illinois, 444 U.S. 85, 91 (1979). 

Second, police may only conduct an officer safety pat-down search if they have 

a reasonable suspicion the individual is armed and presently dangerous. Terry v. 

to exclude it as the product of an illegal wiretap and agreed not to admit evidence of 
the incident at trial. A.R. 60, 848-09, 876A. 
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Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968). Here, the officer articulated the opposite; he reasonably 

believed that Petitioner, who was handcuffed, had already been frisked for weapons. 

Furthermore, the officer testified to a search far exceeding the scope of a Terry frisk, 

searching "anywhere contraband or other item[s] could be placed." A.R. 325. 

Third, the inevitable discovery exception only permits the introduction of 

illegally-obtained evidence if, contemporaneous to the constitutional violation, other 

officers were pursuing an alternative line of investigation to legally acquire the same 

evidence. See Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Flippo, 212 W. Va. 560, 575 S.E.2d 170 (2002). The 

court ruled police would have discovered the evidence after a search incident to 

arrest, but even after finding drugs they would not have had probable cause to 

lawfully arrest Petitioner. See Ybarra, 444 U.S. at 90-9l. 

Finally, this error requires a new trial because the State cannot prove beyond 

a reasonable doubt that the evidence did not contribute to the verdict. It explicitly 

relied on the illegally seized evidence to persuade the jury that Petitioner, and not 

the other occupants owned the drugs seized from the bedroom. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Oral argument and a signed opinion are appropriate because Petitioner asks 

this Court to reverse the decision of a circuit court. Furthermore, although the law 

should be well settled, Petitioner's case shows the need for this Court to provide 

guidance both to lower courts and law enforcement concerning the proper scope of 

searches, whether conducted by warrant or for officer safety. 

In particular, although the holding in State v. Massie, 95 W. Va. 233,120 S.E. 

514 (1923) is largely congruent with that in Ybarra v. Illinois, 444 U.S. 85 (1979), 

West Virginia's case predates the United States Supreme Court's treatment of the 

issue by half a century. It also predates the incorporation of the Fourth Amendment 

against the states, See Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961), and rests entirely 
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upon statutory and constitutional interpretation of West Virginia law as it existed in 

1923. This Court should take Petitioner's case for oral argument to update its case 

law on this important point. 

Additionally, the officer confused the basis and permissible scope for 

conducting a Terry frisk with those for a search incident to an arrest. This is an 

important distinction that arises in many encounters between law enforcement and 

citizens. It is important that this Court's search and seizure jurisprudence be clear to 

police as well as courts, and Petitioner's case provides this Court an opportunity to 

provide that guidance. 

Therefore, Petitioner requests a Rule 20 oral argument. 

ARGUMENT 

The circuit court erred by admitting evidence seized from Petitioner in 
violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 
Article III, § 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. The search warrant did not 
authorize a search of Petitioner, and exceptions for officer safety and 
inevitable discovery did not apply. 

The circuit court erred by denying Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence 

seized from his person. The Court has held that: 

We first review a circuit court's findings of fact when ruling on a motion 
to suppress evidence under the clearly erroneous standard. Second, we 
review de novo questions of law and the circuit court's ultimate 
conclusion as to the constitutionality of the law enforcement action. 
Under the clearly erroneous standard, a circuit court's decision 
ordinarily will be affirmed unless it is unsupported by substantial 
evidence; based on an erroneous interpretation of applicable law; or, in 
light of the entire record, this Court is left with a firm and definite 
conviction that a mistake has been made. When we review the denial of 
a motion to suppress, we consider the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the prosecution. 

State v. Myers, 229 W. Va. 238, 245-46, 728 S.E.2d 122, 129-30 (2012) (per curiam) 
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(cleaned Up)3. The court below posited three legal theories to introduce the evidence, 

but premised these rationales on mistakes oflaw. This Court's review is de novo. 

Furthermore, these mistakes justify a new trial because the illegally seized 

evidence was important to the State's case, and the State therefore cannot carry its 

burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the evidence did not contribute to 

the verdict. See Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Blair, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975); 

Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23-24 (1967). 

A. The search was illegal. 

Both the Federal and West Virginia Constitutions prohibit unreasonable 

searches and seizures. U.S. Const. Amend. IV; W. Va. Const. Art. III, § 6. "Where a 

search is undertaken by law enforcement officials to discover evidence of criminal 

wrongdoing, reasonableness generally requires the obtaining of a judicial warrant. In 

the absence of a warrant, a search is reasonable only if it falls within a specific 

exception to the warrant requirement." Riley v. California, _ U.S. _, 134 S. Ct. 

2473,2482 (2014) (cleaned up); see also Johnson, 333 U.S. at 14. Unless an exception 

to either the warrant requirement or the exclusionary rule applies, evidence gathered 

through a warrantless search is inadmissible. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961). 

Here, the circuit court ruled: 1) the warrant, coupled with information omitted 

from the application, authorized Sergeant Pifer to search Petitioner, 2) the "officer 

safety" exception to the warrant requirement authorized him to frisk Petitioner, or 3) 

if the search was illegal, the "inevitable discovery" exception to the exclusionary rule 

applied. However, the court erred by basing these rationales upon mistakes of law. 

3 This brief uses the phrase "cleaned up" to denote minor, non-substantive alterations 
to a quotation (such as omitting internal quotations and citations) that improve