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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's claim must be rejected. First, the search warrant was constitutionally 

permissible in that it allowed the search of all persons located on the premises during the search. 

Second, even if the search warrant did not allow the search ofall persons present, the officer safety 

and inevitable discovery exceptions to the warrant requirement apply. In short, the search was 

constitutional. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The issue raised in Petitioner's Brief is covered by settled law. The factual record is well 

developed in the Appendix, and the appropriate legal arguments are fully presented in the parties' 

briefs. The decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument and this case is 

suitable for disposition by memorandum decision. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of review. 

On appeal, a circuit court's factual findings regarding a motion to suppress are reviewed 

for "clear error," and all facts are construed in the light most favorable to the State. Syl. Pt. 1, State 

v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104,468 S.E.2d 719 (1996) (further explaining that, "[b]ecause of the highly 

fact-specific nature of a motion to suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the 

5 As noted in Petitioner's Brief, he is currently on parole form West Virginia Department of Corrections 
custody, but is incarcerated by the Federal Bureau of Prisons. (Pet'r's Brief at 2). Upon information and 
belief, his current incarceration is also related to possession with intent to deliver. 
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circuit court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear testimony on the 

issues."). The determination ofwhether a search or seizure was constitutional is a question oflaw, 

and is reviewed de novo. Id. at Syl. Pt. 2, 468 S.E.2d at 722. "Thus, a circuit court's denial of a 

motion to suppress evidence will be affirmed unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence, 

based on an erroneous interpretation of the law, or, based on the entire record, it is clear that a 

mistake has been made." Id. 

B. 	 The circuit court properly admitted evidence seized from Petitioner during the execution 
of a valid search warrant. 

Petitioner contends that the circuit court erred in finding that evidence seized from his 

person during the execution of a valid search warrant during a drug raid was admissible at trial 

(Pet'r's Brief at 6-15). He argues that the search warrant did not authorize a search of his person 

and he further asserts that the exceptions for officer safety and the inevitable discovery doctrine 

do not apply. (Id.). Therefore, Petitioner reasons that the evidence obtained as a result of search 

and seizure was inadmissible. (ld.). This claim is without merit. 

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 6 of the 

West Virginia Constitution protect the public from unreasonable searches and seizures by 

government officials. See, e.g., Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 648 (1961); Syl. Pt. 4, State v. 

Duvernoy, 156 W. Va. 578, 195 S.E.2d 631 (1973).6 These constitutional provisions generally 

require a government actor obtain a warrant issued upon probable cause before conducting a 

search. U.S. Const. Amend. IV; W. Va. Const. art. III, § 6; see also Duvernoy, 156 W. Va. at Syl. 

Pt. 5, 195 S.E.2d at 632. There are, however, a number of judicially-created exceptions to this 

warrant requirement. Syl. Pt. 3, Ullom v. Miller, 227 W. Va. 1, 4, 705 S.E.2d 111, 114 (2010) 

6 In fact, with limited exception, "[t]his Court has traditionally construed Article III, Section 6 in harmony 
with the Fourth Amendment." Duvernoy, 156 W. Va. at 582, 195 S.E.2d at 634. 
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(Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable subject to "a few specifically established and well

delineated exceptions."). Accord Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 460 (2011) ("[T]he warrant 

requirement is subject to certain reasonable exceptions."). These exceptions include "searches 

incident to a valid arrest, seizures of items in plain view, searches and seizures justified by exigent 

circumstances, consensual searches, and searches in which the special needs of law enforcement 

make the probable cause and warrant requirements impracticable." State v. Kimble, 233 W. Va. 

428,433,759 S.E.2d 171, 176 (2014) (quoting State v. Farley, 230 W.Va. 193, 197,737 S.E.2d 

90,94 (2012)). 

In the present matter, the circuit court found that the search and seizure regarding Petitioner 

was not unreasonable. (App. at 356-57). Specifically, the circuit court found that the warrant that 

was issued authorized law enforcement to search Petitioner's person. (ld.). Additionally, the 

circuit court found that even if the warrant did not authorize the search and seizure, two (2) 

exceptions applied: 1) officer safety and 2) inevitable discovery doctrine. (ld.). The circuit court 

correctly applied the law in this matter and appropriately found that the search was not 

unreasonable given the circumstances of this matter. As such, and for the reasons more fully 

discussed below, the circuit court's ruling should be affirmed. 

1. Petitioner was searched and the evidence was seized pursuant to a valid search warrant. 

Petitioner first contends that the search warrant to search the home did not authorize law 

enforcement to search individuals located on the premises at the time of the execution of the 

warrant. (Pet'r's Brief at 8-9). This claim is without merit. 

i. "All persons" search warrants are constitutionally permissible. 

The Fourth Amendment to the Constitution requires that "no Warrants shall issue, but upon 

probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be 
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searched, and the persons or thing to be seized." U.S. Cons. amend. IV. It is well-established that 

"a warrant must particularly describe the place to be searched and the things or persons to be 

seized." Lacy, 196 W. Va. at 110-11,468 S.E.2d at 725-26 (citing State v. Greer, 130 W.Va. 159, 

164-65,42 S.E.2d 719, 722-23 (1947)). 

Here, the warrant identified the location (the home) and the people to be searched (its 

occupants) and it explained why (drug trafficking). This warrant is sometimes referred to as an 

"all persons" warrant and it satisfies the particularity requirement-a fact recognized by a number 

of other jurisdictions.7 For example, in State v. Jackson, 2000 S.D. 113, ~ 12,616 N.W.2d 412, 

416, the Supreme Court of South Dakota was faced with the issue of whether there was probable 

cause to issue an "all persons" search warrant. The court noted that it had "not previously reviewed 

a challenge to an 'all persons' search warrant." Id. The court thoroughly discussed the issue, 

observing that: 

7 See also Com. v. Heidelberg, 369 Pa. Super. 398,405535 A.2d 611, 614 (1987), aff'd sub nom. Com. v. 
Gilliam, 522 Pa. 138, 560 A.2d 140 (1989) (Rejecting the contention that Ybarra required the warrant to 
be struck down, the court upheld a search warrant authorizing the search of "all persons" present at a home 
in which a confidential and reliable informant had, immediately preceding the issuance of the warrant, 
observed the owner selling cocaine to other persons at the house. The informant had also observed large 
quantities of cocaine in the house available for sale. Additional informants also corroborated that drugs 
were being sold from the house.); State in Interest ofL.Q., 236 N.J. Super. 464, 566 A.2d 223 (App. Div. 
1989) (The court upheld a warrant supported by the report of a reliable source that ongoing cocaine sales 
were taking place at the specified location; police surveillance that revealed numerous persons entering the 
premises, staying for short periods of time, and then leaving the house; and the observation of a lookout 
person to warn the occupants of police activity in the neighborhood.); People v. Johnson, 805 P.2d 1156 
(Colo. App. 1990); State v. Covington, 904 P.2d 209, 211 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) ("The majority of courts 
that have addressed the validity of 'all persons present' search warrants have held that, depending on the 
evidence supporting the probable cause for their issuance, they may pass constitutional muster."); State v. 
De Simone, 60 N.J. 319, 288 A.2d 849 (1972); Com. v. Smith, 370 Mass. 335, 348 N.E.2d 101 (1976); State 
v. Doyle, 918 P .2d 141, 143 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) ("Thus, it is no longer an open question whether' all 
persons' warrants are categorically valid; the only remaining questions are whether this particular warrant 
was supported by sufficient probable cause and whether it was valid as executed."); State v. Hinkel, 365 
N.W.2d 774 (Minn. 1985); State v. Blevins, 968 P.2d 402 (Utah Ct. App. 1998); Morton v. Com., 16 Va. 
App. 946, 434 S.E.2d 890 (1993). 
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The Fourth Amendment requires 'a nexus ... between the item to be seized and 
criminal behavior." Warden v. Hayden, 387 U.S. 294, 307, 87 S.Ct. 1642, 1650, 18 
L.Ed.2d 782, 792 (1967). Some courts condemn warrants directing a search of 'any 
and all persons' because they constitute general warrants authorizing the 
indiscriminate searching of people without naming or describing anyone. 
Crossland v. State, 266 P.2d 649, 652 (Okla. Crim. App. 1954); see Wayne R. 
LaFave, Search and Seizure § 4.5( e), at 545-46 (3rd ed. 1996). Other courts do not 
forbid these warrants, finding that 'it is no longer an open question' that such 
warrants are valid; the only question is the existence ofprobable cause to justify 
them. 

State v. Jackson, 2000 S.D. 113, ~ 13, 616 N.W.2d 412,417 (emphasis added). After reviewing 

the other jurisdictional case law, the South Dakota Supreme Court found that "'all persons' 

warrants will not perforce offend the particularity requirement ofthe Fourth Amendment . .•• 

Instead, the validity of an 'all persons' warrant-like the validity of any search warrant-depends 

on the probable cause offered to support it. Ybarra v. Illinois, 444 U.S. 85 (1979); see Marks v. 

Clarke, 102 F.3d 1012, 1029 (9th Cir.l996)." ld., 2000 S.D. 113 at ~ 14, 616 N.W.2d at 417 

(emphasis added). In fact, the court found that "[t]he key to assessing an 'all persons' warrant is 

to examine whether there was a 'sufficient nexus among the criminal activity, the place of the 

activity, and the persons in the place to establish probable cause.' ld., 2000 S.D. 113 at ~ 15,616 

N.W.2d at 418. One significant factor is "that the search was of a private house, not a public 

business or multi-family dwelling where innocent persons might more likely be subject to an 

unjustified search." ld., 2000 S.D. 113 at ~ 19,616 N.W.2d at 419. See also Morton, 434 S.E.2d 

at 893 (upholding "all persons present" search warrant of "private apartment"). 

Looking to the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court for additional guidance, the South 

Dakota Supreme Court recognized a three-factor approach to evaluate the validity of these 

warrants: 

[1] the premises or area to be searched are small, confined and private; [2] 
the nature ofthe criminal activity is such that the participants (in general) constantly 
shift or change so that it is, practically, impossible for the police to predict that any 
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specific person or persons will be on the premises at any given time; and [3] the 
items specifically described in the warrant as the target of the search are of a size 
or kind which renders them easily and likely to be concealed on the person. 

ld. (quoting Smith, 348 N .E.2d 101 at 107).8 Balancing privacy interests with law enforcement's 

compelling needs, the court observed that "[t]he issuance of an 'all persons' search warrant does 

not require a guarantee that everyone who might appear during the search must be involved in drug 

activity. That is too high a burden." Jackson, 2000 S.D. 113 at ~ 24,616 N.W.2d at 420. The court 

noted that it 

d[id] not sanction the routine use of 'all persons' warrants. However, [it] uph[e]ld 
the warrant in this case because the facts to support it include: (1) proof of the sale 
of a controlled substance at the residence within twenty-four hours before the 
warrant was issued; (2) a reliable indication of siX; earlier purchases of drugs from 
the same persons by the same informant who made the controlled buy; (3) two law 
enforcement searches of the suspects' prior residences indicating not only the 
presence of drugs but also evidence of ongoing drug dealing activity; (4) the search 
of a private dwelling, rather than a multi-family residence or business where 
innocent persons would more likely be present; (5) the nature of the criminal 
activity was such that participants constantly shifted or changed making it 
practically impossible for law enforcement to predict that any specific person or 
persons would be on the premises at any given time; (6) the search was conducted 
at a time of day when it was unlikely that innocent citizens would arrive at the 
residence; and (7) the subject of the search was illicit drugs which can be easily 
hidden on a person's body. 

ld., 2000 S.D. 113 at ~ 25,616 N.W.2d at 420. As such, a majority of courts have held that "all 

persons" warrants are constitutional. 

ii. The warrant in this case was a constitutional "all persons" warrant. 

Here, the warrant was not unconstitutionally overbroad. In the affidavit for the search 

warrant, Sergeant Pifer states that he spoke with a confidential informant who apprised him that 

Eric and Keisha Salyers sold heroin from their residence located at 925 Lynn Street. (App. at 979). 

Pursuant to this information-that Eric and Keisha Salyers were drug dealers-law enforcement 

8 Other courts have endorsed this approach. See Blevins, 968 P.2d at 404; Covington, 904 P.2d at 212. 
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and the criminal informant completed two (2) controlled purchases at that residence involving both 

Eric and Keisha Salyers. (Id. at 980). The second "controlled purchase occurred within the past 

24 hours from the application of [the] warrant." (Id.). Based upon this information, the search 

warrant covered "all structures on this property" and "any vehicle and persons located on this 

property." (Id.) (emphasis added). Furthermore, the description ofproperty to be seized including 

items that would be involved in not just drug using, but more particularly, drug selling (such as, 

US currency, financial and business records, paraphernalia used for packaging, weighing, and 

distributing heroin, etc.). (Id. at 981). As such, given the circumstances, as presented in the 

affidavit for the search warrant, there was probable cause to allow this "all persons" search because 

this residence was known for drug trafficking and there was a probability that persons on this 

property were here for illicit reasons. Therefore, the search of Petitioner was well-within the 

confines of the search warrant and the evidence seized was admissible. The circuit court's ruling 

should be affirmed. 

iii. Massie and Ybarra are distinguishable from the present matter. 

In support ofhis contention, Petitioner relies on two cases: State v. Massie, 95 W. Va. 233, 

120 S.E. 514 (1923) and Ybarra v. Illinois, 444 U.S. 85 (1979). (Pet'r's Brief at 6-15). While these 

cases may be instructive, they are certainly not dispositive ofthe issue and Petitioner's reliance on 

them is misplaced. 

Like Massie, Ybarra involved a search of all patrons at a public bar. In Ybarra, law 

enforcement received a tip from a reliable criminal informant that at a local tavern, the bartender 

had recently been observed having numerous tin-foil packets, a common method of packing 

heroin, on his person. Ybarra, 444 U.S. at 87-88. A search warrant was issued authorizing the 

search of the tavern and of the person of the bartender. Id. at 88. During the execution of the 
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search warrant, law enforcement performed a frisk of several patrons of the tavern including the 

petitioner. Id The petitioner was ultimately frisked twice and upon the second time a substance 

which turned out to be heroin was found on his person. Id at 88-89. He was convicted of 

possession of heroin. Id at 89. When faced with the question of whether this search of the 

petitioner's person was reasonable, the United States Supreme Court held that: 

When the search warrant was issued the authorities had no probable cause to 
believe that any person found in the tavern, aside from the bartender, would be 
violating the law. The complaint for the warrant did not allege that the tavern was 
frequented by persons illegally purchasing drugs or that the informant had ever seen 
a patron of the tavern purchase drugs from the bartender or any other person. And 
probable cause to search appellant was still absent when the police executed the 
warrant; upon entering the tavern, the police did not recognize appellant and had 
no reason to believe that he had committed, was committing, or was about to 
commit any offense. The police did possess a warrant based on probable cause to 
search the tavern where appellant happened to be when the warrant was executed, 
but a person's mere propinquity to others independently suspected of criminal 
activity does not, without more, give rise to probable cause to search that person. 
Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40,62--63,88 S.Ct. 1889, 1902,20 L.Ed.2d 917. 
Although the warrant gave the officers authority to search the premises and the 
bartender, it gave them no authority to invade the constitutional protections 
possessed individually by the tavern's customers. Pp. 342-343. 

Id at 85-86 (emphasis added). "In short, the agents knew nothing in particular about [the 

petitioner], except that he was present, along with several other customers, in a public tavern at a 

time when the police had reason to believe that the bartender would have heroin for sale." Id at 

91. Furthermore, the Supreme Court did not extend this holding to matters where a search warrant 

specifically states that any persons located on the premises be searched-it expressly left that open: 

"we need not consider situations where the warrant itself authorizes the search of unnamed 

persons in a place and is supported by probable cause to believe that persons who will be in the 

place at the time of the search will be in possession of illegal drugs." Id at 109 nA (emphasis 

added). 
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The circumstances ofMassie and Ybarra are completely different from the present matter. 

Both of those cases occurred in a public bar setting, not a private home. Furthermore, here, prior 

to obtaining the search warrant, law enforcement was aware that multiple drug transactions had 

occurred in this small, private home in a neighborhood known for drug trafficking. As such, it is 

wholly reasonable to suspect that a small number of individuals in a private home are participating 

in illicit activities as opposed to a public bar where more than likely the patrons are innocent 

bystanders. Moreover, the search warrant in this case explicitly stated that it extended to "persons 

located on the premises." As noted above, Ybarra specifically did not extend its holding to matters 

where the search warrant was addressed to "all persons." As such, for these reasons and the 

reasons discussed supra Massie and Ybarra are distinguishable from the present matter. 

2. 	 Even assuming for the sake ofargument that Petitioner was not searched pursuant to a 
valid search warrant, the inevitable discovery doctrine would have led to the same 
conclusion. 

While the above-discussed considerations dispositively resolve the issue raised in 

Petitioner's appeal, Respondent further submits that, even assuming that Petitioner was not 

searched pursuant to a valid search warrant, the evidence was still admissible pursuant to an 

exception to the warrant requirement: the inevitable discovery doctrine.9 

"Under the inevitable discovery rule, unlawfully obtained evidence is not subject to the 

exclusionary rule if it is shown that the evidence would have been discovered pursuant to a 

properly executed search warrant." State v. Newcomb, 223 W. Va. 843,865,679 S.E.2d 675, 697 

(2009) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Flippo, 212 W. Va. 560, 575 S.E.2d 170 (2002)). This exception 

is straightforward: 

9 The State does not concede that the officer safety exception is inapplicable. In fact, during the hearing on 
the Motion to Suppress, Sergeant Pifer testified that he conducted the search for weapons and contraband: 
it "included checking pockets, waistband, shoes, socks, anywhere contraband or other item[s] could be 
placed." (App. at 325). Further, Petitioner was a known drug trafficker. 
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To prevail under the inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule, Article 
III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution requires the State to prove by a 
preponderance ofthe evidence: (1) that there was a reasonable probability that the 
evidence would have been discovered by lawful means in the absence of police 
misconduct; (2) that the leads making the discovery inevitable were possessed by 
the police at the time of the misconduct; and (3) that the police were actively 
pursuing a lawful alternative line of investigation to seize the evidence prior to the 
time of the misconduct. 

Id. (quoting Flippo, 212 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 4, 575 S.E.2d at 170). 

It is well established in West Virginia that "[p]robable cause to make an arrest without a 

warrant exists when the facts and circumstances within the knowledge of the arresting officer are 

sufficient to warrant a prudent man in believing that an offense has been committed." Syl. Pt. 7 

State v. Craft, 165 W. Va. 741, 272 S.E.2d 46 (1980). Furthermore, "[a]n officer, with authority 

to conserve the peace, may, without a warrant, arrest any person who he, upon probable cause, 

believes has committed or is committing a felony, though it afterwards appears that no felony was